**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
James Martin Harvey, Jr., Special Referee**

Case No. 2009-CP-02-000958

Elite Construction, Inc., Respondent

v.

**Doris E. Tummillo and Georgia Bank and Trust Company of Augusta,
Defendants,**

Of Whom Doris E. Tummillo is the Appellant,

And

Georgia Bank and Trust Company of Augusta is a Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2013-001624

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**Neal W. Dickert
Paul K. Simons
Hull Barrett, PC
P. O. Box 1564
Augusta, Georgia 30901-1564
(706) 722-4481
Attorney for Appellant, Doris E. Tummillo**

**Clarke W. McCants, III
Nance McCants & Massey
218 Newberry Street, S.W.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN ITS FINDING THAT THE CONTRACT WAS UNAMBIGUOUS, CLEAR, AND EXPLICIT, IN REQUIRING A STALL SIZE OF 12' X 12' MEASURED CENTER POST TO CENTER POST, AS OPPOSED TO 12' X 12' INTERIOR SPACE?

- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN REFUSING TO REDUCE THE RECOVERY OF RESPONDENT FOR ITS FAILURE TO DELIVER HORSE STALLS OF THE SIZE REQUIRED BY THE CONTRACT WITH APPELLANT IN THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE POLE BARN AT ISSUE?

- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN FINDING THAT TIME WAS NOT OF THE ESSENCE IN THIS CONTRACT AND THAT APPELLANT'S PROOF OF DAMAGES WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT?

- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES TO THE RESPONDENT IN LIGHT OF ITS ERRONEOUS RULING ON THE ISSUES RAISED IN QUESTIONS I, II, AND III?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a contractual dispute over the construction of a pole barn by the Respondent, Elite Construction, Inc. (hereafter, "Elite"), for the Appellant, Doris E. Tummillo (hereafter, "Tummillo"). Appellant intended to use the barn for boarding horses (R. p. 149, lines 2-11). Most of the provisions of the parties' agreement are set forth in a written document dated July 16, 2008 (R. pp. 183-187). Tummillo contends that additional provisions were agreed to by the parties, and those provisions remain in much dispute in this case.¹

After a disagreement arose between Tummillo and Elite over the payments Elite was claiming to be due under the contract, Elite left the job site on January 5, 2009, and subsequently filed a mechanic's lien on February 13, 2009 (R. pp. 33-36; R. p. 20, line 16-p. 21, line 9). This action was filed by Elite on May 1, 2009, against Tummillo and Georgia Bank and Trust Company of Augusta, for breach of contract and foreclosure of the mechanic's lien previously filed on February 13, 2009 (R. pp. 37-50). The Respondent, Georgia Bank and Trust Company of Augusta, was joined in the case by virtue of a mortgage given by Tummillo to the property which was the subject of the lien (R. p. 39, ¶3).

In Elite's complaint, it sought recovery for breach of contract, contending that it had complied with the terms of the contract with Tummillo. Elite claimed a breach of this contract in its first cause of action, and for the foreclosure of its lien filed in its second cause of action (R. pp. 37-50). Tummillo filed her answer and counterclaim on

¹ One additional provision not in dispute is that the contract initially required 45 stalls at a price of \$358,379. By agreement of the parties, the number of stalls was reduced to 40 and the contract amount was adjusted accordingly (Transcript, p. 17, 64, 86).

May 29, 2009, in which she alleged that Elite had abandoned the contract before it was completed and denied any breach of contract as alleged in the complaint (R. pp. 51-56). Tummillo also filed a counterclaim against Elite and contended that she had incurred considerable expense to complete the contract after Elite abandoned the job, and that the delay caused by Elite's failure to promptly complete the job resulted in consequential damages in the form of lost rental income for the stalls which were the subject of the contract (R. pp. 51-56).

The case was ultimately referred with finality to Special Referee Martin Harvey in an order filed July 11, 2012 (R. pp. 28-32). The trial occurred before the Special Referee on July 12, 2012. At the trial, all parties stipulated that Respondent, Georgia Bank and Trust Company, had a valid mortgage lien on the property, which was the subject of this action, and that such lien was prior to and superior to the lien asserted by Elite. A stipulation was so entered July 12, 2013 at the beginning of the trial confirming this issue (R. p. 60). No issue is raised by either Tummillo or Elite relative to the legal standing or position of Georgia Bank and Trust Company of Augusta.

An order of judgment was filed on September 13, 2012, finding for Elite in the amount of Eighty Thousand, Two Hundred Four and 10/100's (\$80,204.10) Dollars and reserving the issue of attorney's fees to be awarded at a subsequent hearing (R. pp. 17-28). On September 24, 2012, Tummillo filed its motion to alter or amend the judgment by requesting a reduction in the judgment based on deficiencies in stall size, asking the Court to afford Tummillo some relief on her counter claim for consequential damages, and requesting that the claim for attorney's fees to Elite be denied. (R. pp. 61-64).

On June 24, 2013, the court issued an order denying Tummillo's motion to alter and/or amend (R. pp. 12-16). The court thereafter issued an order to correct a clerical error in the order and judgment filed September 13, 2012, and issued an amended order and judgment filed on July 22, 2013 (R. pp. 1-11). Tummillo, after having been served with the order denying its motion to alter and/or amend, served her notice of appeal on July 24, 2013, both as to the amended order of judgment and the order denying Tummillo's motion to alter and/or amend.

The amount involved in this appeal involves the judgment of Eighty Thousand, Two Hundred Fourteen and 10/100's (\$80,214.10) Dollars reflected in the amended order of judgment (R. pp. 1-11) and attorney's fees in the amount of Nineteen Thousand, Seven Hundred Ninety-Four and 40/100's (\$19,794.40) Dollars (R. pp. 12-16).

ARGUMENT

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN ITS FINDING THAT THE CONTRACT WAS UNAMBIGUOUS, CLEAR, AND EXPLICIT, IN REQUIRING A STALL SIZE OF 12' X 12' MEASURED CENTER POST TO CENTER POST, AS OPPOSED TO 12' X 12' INTERIOR SPACE?

Perhaps the most crucial issue in this case and the issue over which the parties most vehemently disagree is a provision concerning the stall size for the various horse stalls to be used for boarding horses. Tummillo contended throughout the case that the parties had agreed that the stall size was to be twelve (12) feet by twelve (12) feet, to be measured by the interior dimension of each stall (R. p. 150, lines 12-21; R. p. 154, lines 7-24; R. p. 155, lines 8-25; R. p. 171, lines 3-20). There appears to be no dispute that the written contract itself is silent as to the stall size (R. pp. 183-187). The law is quite clear, however, that where a contract is ambiguous or silent as to a particular provision, parole evidence is admissible to supplement (not contradict) the terms of a written agreement. Parole evidence is admissible to supply a portion of the agreement to which the written contract is silent and to explain the true meaning and intention of the parties. *Columbia East Associations vs. Bi-Lo*, 299 S.C. 515, 386 S.E. 2d 259 (Ct. App. 1989); *Maddox vs. Cassady*, 289 S.C. 57, 344 S.E. 2d 620 (Ct. App. 1986).

There is no dispute that the parties agreed that the forty (40) stalls were to be constructed in the pole barn, and that the stalls were to be 12' x 12'. (R. p. 110, line 17-p. 111, line 1; R. p. 112, lines 14-20; R. p. 114, lines 20-22; R. p. 126, lines 19-21; R. p. 127, lines 2-4; R. p. 133, lines 1-20; R. p. 150, lines 18-21). There is further no dispute that a 12' x 12' stall is the standard in the industry for full-size

thoroughbreds, as testified to by Elite's expert and as written in a reliable article from Penn State University (R. p. 143, lines 3-11; R. p. 146, lines 15-22). The dispute is not whether the parties, through their amended contract, intended a 12' x 12' stall. The issue is how to measure the stall. As most thoroughbred horses are seven (7) to eight (8) feet in length, the standard recommended stall (12' x 12') is 1½ times the length of the horse (R. p. 146, lines 19-p. 147, line 12). Tummillo testified that she clearly agreed that the stalls would be measured by interior space (R. p. 150, lines 12-21). Elite, on the other hand, contends the measurement should be center post to center post (R. p. 110, line 17-p. 111, line 12). When adding the thickness of the post and interior boards, the ultimate stall dimensions for such size would be less than 12' x 12' (R. p. 112, lines 2-18). Elite estimated that this difference would be 3'' to 9'' (R. p. 119, lines 9-19). While this amount of reduction might not seem significant, Tummillo believes it is with horses. A one foot reduction in stall size amounts to a twenty-five (25%) percent reduction in available space for an eight (8) foot horse (R. p. 147, lines 7-12). The Special Referee concluded that the contract (with the drawings attached) was unambiguous (R. pp. 183-196) and stated its conclusions as follows:

The Document is clear in its terms. A combined reading of the document with its attached specifications and plan indicates the stalls were to be built as 12 feet on center not interior dimensions. Had the parties intended for the stalls to have interior dimensions of 12 feet, the exterior perimeter would have essentially had to measure larger than the Document provided (R. p. 5).

Tummillo contends that the "Document" is far from clear. No stall size is given. While the court extrapolates from the drawing the size of the pole barn, there

is nothing upon which the Court can conclude the precise dimensions of the barn. This is a “U” shaped configuration (R. p. 110, line 4-11). The thirty (30) stalls are located under one roof and the ten (10) stalls are attached in separate wings (R. pp. 201-204). For the court to conclude that the measurement of 204’ or 136’ (as contained in the drawing) necessarily represents the confines of the building, is not supported by the testimony and is speculative. There is nothing upon which the court can conclude that the ten (10) stalls on the two (2) wings have any measurement at all (R. pp. 188-196).

The trial court erred in not considering the evidence of the parties on the stall size, and in concluding the parties’ intention with regard to stall size solely from the documents tendered.

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN REFUSING TO REDUCE THE RECOVERY OF RESPONDENT FOR ITS FAILURE TO DELIVER HORSE STALLS OF THE SIZE REQUIRED BY THE CONTRACT WITH APPELLANT IN THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE POLE BARN AT ISSUE?

If the Court correctly interpreted the contract by concluding that the stall size was 12’ x 12’, center post to center post, the Court ignored the fact [as reflected in Defendant’s Exhibit Eighteen (18)], that only three of the forty stalls had center post measurements of at least twelve (12) feet (R. p. 270; R. p. 177, lines 1-15).

There is no dispute that stall size was critical. As testified by Elite’s expert, most horses are seven (7) to eight (8) feet in length from the tip of the nose to the end of the tail (R. p. 142, lines 8-9). This expert relied upon a study at Penn State

University, which suggests stalls be one and one-half (1½) times the length of the horse (R. p. 142, line 7; R. p. 147, lines 3-6). Consequently, an eight (8) foot horse would require a twelve (12) foot stall. Horses need room to move around, stand up, sit down, and room for the trainer to bring it food. A small size also creates potential danger for a horse (R. p. 155, lines 14-25). Mr. Key, the president of Elite, suggested that the twelve (12) foot center post to center post measurement would result in stall sizes between 11'3" and 11'9" (R. p. 119, lines 9-19). The actual measurements of the various stall sizes constructed by Elite show that the sizes of the stall do not meet Mr. Key's criteria (R. p. 207). Twelve (12) of the stalls have at least one interior measurement less than eleven (11) feet. None of the stalls have a measurement greater than 11'6" (R. p. 207). As reflected by Defendant's Exhibit Eighteen (18), thirty-seven (37) of the forty (40) stalls show center post to center post measurements of substantially less than the 12' x 12'. Only three stalls meet or exceed 12' (R. p. 270).

The Court ignored this clear breach of the agreement by Elite. This issue was raised by Tummillo in her motion to alter or amend (R. p. 61-65). When addressing the issue raised by Tummillo's post-trial motion, the Court stated,

A. Stall Size. Plaintiff agreed to construct "12 by 12" stalls for Tummillo. The testimony of certain witnesses, including the Plaintiff's expert witness, which I find to be more credible than conflicting evidence of other witnesses, shows that the term "12 by 12", as used in the construction and equestrian industry, does not refer to actual measurements, but rather to nominal dimensions. The term "12 by 12" is used to describe (sic) stalls of an approximate, but not exact, size. While it is undisputed that a number of the stalls constructed by the Plaintiff do not actually measure "12 feet by 12 feet" there is nothing in the Parties' written agreement which sets

forth a requirement that the stalls be so precisely constructed.
(R. pp. 12-13).

The irony is that the trial court used very precise mathematical calculations to determine that the contract was unambiguous and required 12' x 12', center post to center post. In paragraph six (6) of the Order of Judgment and Amended Order of Judgment, the court stated the following:

It is not difficult to ascertain the interior dimensions by referring to Exhibits 1 and 2. The drawings provide for 10 groups of three stalls each in the main section, separated by 4 interior aisles allowing access to the stalls, with 2 aisles on each end. Two aisles run the length of the main structure. Building Specifications attached to Ex. 1 provide the aisle-ways to be 14 feet in width. Six total short aisles on the main section at 14 feet each amounts to 84 feet, leaving 120 feet to account for the 10 stalls [120 feet ÷ 10 stalls = 12 feet/stall]. Two long aisles of 14 feet each on the main section amounts to 28 feet, leaving 36 feet to account for the rows of 3 stalls [36 feet ÷ 3 stalls = 12 feet/stall]. I accept as credible and consistent with the plans Chris Key's explanation that the posts of each stall were placed at 12 feet on center and that interior dimensions of each would necessarily be smaller due to the diameter of the support posts and the thickness of the material used to construct the interior walls (R. p. 3; R. p. 19).

If the court concluded with precise certainty that the contract was unambiguous, and required 12' x 12', center post to center post, it is antithetical for it to also say that this dimension is merely "nominal." This deviation from the required amount varies from six (6%) percent to twelve (12) percent, depending upon the calculation, which are pure mathematical square foot calculations that could have been made by the court and were presented throughout the testimony of Dr. Tummillo and the trial exhibits (R. p. 207; R. p. 270; R. p. 157, line 8-p. 158, line 12).

The case of *McPherson v. J.E. Sirena and Company*, 206 S.C. 183, 33 S.E.2d 501 (1945) is instructive. *McPherson* involved the removal of a partner to a partnership. The issue in the case related to the valuation of the partner's interest. Different valuations were used depending upon the circumstances surrounding the termination. Since the partner was removed by vote of the partnership, he argued that his being paid an amount substantially less than the value of his interest was harsh, oppressive, and confiscatory. The court rejected this argument. In the words of the court,

As we have hereinbefore stated, the action is founded on the partnership contract and of course, when it is found that the language of the contract covers the matter in controversy, the issue is decided by merely applying the language of the contract to the facts. 206 S.C. at 204, 33 S.E.2d at 510.

The trial court has used the language of the agreement, and the specifications attached, to conclude the precise measurements of the stalls. It cannot now conclude that these measurements are merely "nominal." As stated in *McPherson*, the court must apply the "language of the contract to the facts."

III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN FINDING THAT TIME WAS NOT OF THE ESSENCE IN THIS CONTRACT AND THAT APPELLANT'S PROOF OF DAMAGES WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT?

A critical issue relating to Appellant's counterclaim relates to the issue of "time being of the essence" in the agreement.

It is true that there is no provision in the written contract that spells out a date of completion. The absence of that date in the written contract does not preclude the parties entering into an oral agreement, so long as it does not contradict the written terms (See Section I of Argument). The evidence supports the conclusion that such occurred. Both Mr. Key and Tumnillo testified that construction was to begin "as soon as possible" with the project completion date of November, 2008 (R. p. 105, lines 20-22; R. p. 128, lines 1-7; R. p. 151, lines 5-22). One case decided by the Supreme Court has facts very similar to this dispute and lays out the applicable legal principles to consider. *Kline Iron and Steel Co. vs. Superior Trucking*, 261 S.C. 542, 201 S.E. 2d 388 (1973), involved an agreement between Kline Iron and Steel Co. and Superior Trucking for the transportation of a truckload of fabricated steel from Casey, South Carolina, to Shoreview, Minnesota. The shipment was consigned to Hamilton Erection Company, who was in the process of erecting a television tower for Kline at Shoreview, Minnesota. The shipment was coordinated through Kline's traffic manager. The necessity for urgent delivery by August 26, 1970, was emphasized to Superior Trucking. When the shipping documents were signed, they contained the notation "8/26 Delivery or ASAP." The evidence further revealed Kline had advised the shipper that if the materials were not delivered in a timely fashion, they had employees on the job site that would not be able to work, and that Kline

would incur “standby time” for these workers. Evidence was introduced as to the value and cost of this standby time. Superior Trucking argued that the term, “as soon as possible” meant “as soon as possible after August 26th” and not “by August 26th or sometime before that.” The jury heard the evidence and awarded damages to Kline in that the materials did not arrive until September 1st. The Supreme Court affirmed. The Court initially addressed the issue of the meaning of “ASAP”. In the words of the Court,

The phrase ‘or as soon as possible’ was susceptible of more than one interpretation, that is, whether ‘as soon as possible’ prior to August 26th or after that date. Its meaning depended upon the intention of the parties, and under the conflicting testimony on the issue, was properly submitted to the jury for determination. The contention that there was no evidence to show that defendant failed to deliver the goods as agreed is without merit. 261 S.C. at 546, 201 S.E.2d at 390.

The court further went on to say,

There was testimony from which it was reasonably inferable that defendant accepted the shipment of structural steel knowing that it was urgently needed by the consignee and that the delivery of the shipment not later than the agreed date was absolutely necessary to the uninterrupted construction of the television tower. There was also testimony that construction of a television tower was a highly specialized business requiring specially qualified workmen who, in order to have them available, had to be employed on a full-time basis. 261 S.C. at 546, 201 S.E.2d at 391.

The evidence presented by Tummillo and Mr. Key is strikingly similar to the evidence presented in the *Kline* case. Both Tummillo and Mr. Key testified that there was a sense of urgency about completing this barn (R. p. 105, lines 20-22; R. p. 128, lines 1-7; R. p. 151, lines 5-22). Tummillo testified that the time to rent the stalls was during

the winter months, and that it was essential for the job to be completed during the month of November (R. p. 151, lines 5-22). She testified that she paid a premium to Elite for this benefit (R. p. 152, lines 1-3). While Mr. Key denied in his testimony that any premium was paid on the contract, he did clearly state that November was the date for the job to be finished (R. p. 128, line 1–p. 129, line 15). The barn was not completed on January 5, 2009, when Elite left the job.

It is important to note that Elite did not begin the job until October 2, 2008 (R. p. 106, lines 5-12). It was clear that the concrete pad upon which the barn would be constructed had to be completed before Elite could begin work and the building permit needed to be obtained (R. p. 102, lines 13-16; R. p. 102, lines 4-11; R. p. 130, line 17–p. 131, line 2). The unrefuted testimony from Tummillo is that the site work was completed before September 4, 2008, and the contractor who did the site work was paid on September 4, 2008 (R. p. 269; R. p. 174, line 11–p. 175, line 1).

The Court made an erroneous finding in addressing this issue. It found in the amended order and judgment,

Elite's commencement of construction was predicated on Tummillo's completion of site preparation and obtaining the building permit (R. p. 6).

In its order denying the motion to amend, the Court concluded that,

The evidence taken as a whole indicates that the Plaintiff was not able to commence construction of the barn until the building site was fully prepared and a building permit was obtained. Tummillo was responsible for satisfying these requirements, both of which were delayed to some degree (R. p. 13).

Tummillo was responsible for the site work. It was completed by September 4, 2008 (R. p. 174, line 11–p. 175, line 23). The building permit was solely the responsibility under the contract of Elite. Paragraph six (6) of the Terms of Sale (R. p. 185) provides, “Builder is responsible for obtaining any required building permits prior to erection.” On page one (1) of the Purchase Contract, “Miscellaneous” provides, “Building permitted (sic) will be provided by Elite Construction” (R. p. 184). Mr. Key testified that he did obtain the building permit and started construction on October 2, 2008 (R. p. 102, lines 13-16; R. p. 106, lines 5-12; R. p. 197-200). Tummillo, in unrefuted testimony, stated that Elite delayed the start of this time sensitive job by a month because Mr. Key told her his firm was “busy” (R. p. 153, lines 3-8). The court made the erroneous conclusion that the month delay was the responsibility of Tummillo.

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