THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
The Honorable James Martin Harvey, Esq.  
Trial Court Case No. 2009-CP-02-000958

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-001624

---

Elite Construction, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Doris E. Tummillo and Georgia Bank and Trust  
Company of Augusta, Defendants,

Of Whom Doris E. Tummillo is the Appellant,

And

Georgia Bank and Trust Company of Augusta is the  
Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
ELITE CONSTRUCTION, INC.

---

Clarke W. McCants, III  
Nance, McCants & Massey  
PO Box 2881  
Aiken, SC 29802  
(803) 649-6200 Ext. 21  
Attorney for the Respondent  
Elite Construction, Inc.

RECEIVED

APR 11 2014

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

## Arguments

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN ITS FINDING THAT THE CONTRACT WAS UNAMBIGUOUS, CLEAR AND EXPLICIT, IN REQUIRING A STALL SIZE OF 12' X 12' MEASURED CENTER POST TO CENTER POST, AS OPPOSED TO 12' X 12' INTERIOR SPACE.

A proceeding for the enforcement of a statutory lien, such as a mechanic's lien, is legal in nature." Butler Contracting, Inc. v. Court Street, LLC, 369 S.C. 121, 631 S.E.2d 252 (2006) (citing Willard v. Finch, 123 S.C. 56, 116 S.E. 96 (1923) ). In an action at law tried without a jury, the trial court's findings of fact will be upheld on appeal when the findings are reasonably supported by the evidence. Butler Contracting, 369 S.C. at 126, 631 S.E.2d at 255. The trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the evidence or clearly influenced or controlled by an error of law. *Id.* at 126-28, 631 S.E.2d at 255-56. Taylor, Cotton & Ridley, Inc. V. Okatie Hotel Group, LLC, et al., 372 S.C. 89, 641 S.E. 459 (Ct. App. 2007).

Elite Construction filed this civil action to recover amounts due by Dr. Tummillo pursuant to a written contract between the Parties and by which Elite Construction agreed to build a horse barn for her. (R. pp. 37 - 50). When a dispute arose between the Parties Elite Construction had substantially completed construction of the barn and Dr. Tummillo had paid for a large portion of the work performed. (R. p. 103, line 19 - p. 104, line 9; p. 123, line 22 - p. 125, line 21). She contends that no further amounts are due to Elite Construction.

Dr. Tummillo alleges that Elite Construction failed in numerous respects to comply with the agreement to build her barn. (R. pp. 51 - 56). As set forth in her Brief to this Court, however, her main complaint at this time centers around the size of the horse stalls constructed by Elite Construction. Dr. Tummillo contends that the contract provides that all of the stalls in the barn

should have interior dimensions of twelve actual feet by twelve actual feet. Put simply, she argues that Elite Construction promised that all of the horse stalls would measure that exact size.

The type of structure involved in this case is known as a “pole building” or a “pole barn”. As explained by Chris Key, the owner and operator of Elite Construction, and Jerry D. Cooper, an expert witness in the area of the construction of such structures, this type of barn is very common and economical to build. (R. p. 99, line 14 - p. 100, line 17; p. 135, line 9 - p. 139, line 1). Photographs of the barn involved here were introduced into evidence at the trial of this case. (R. pp. 201 - 204).

The contract between Dr. Tummillo and Elite Construction, and the accompanying plans, set forth the dimensions of the barn involved in this case and the materials to be used as part of its construction. (R. pp. 183 -196). As set forth by the Special Referee in his orders for this case the contract and plans do not specifically state the interior dimensions of the stalls. (R. pp. 1 - 27).

As he noted, however, it is not difficult to ascertain the dimensions of the stalls by referring to both the contract and the plans. Basically, the contract and plans provide that the “poles”, which are wood posts that establish the four corners of a stall and also serve to support the roof of the barn, are “set on 12-foot centers”, which means twelve feet from each other measuring from the center of a post. (R. p. 108, line 25 - p. 121, line 13). The actual distance between the posts is dictated by the lumber to be used, and which is sold in standard lengths. (Id.). To complete a stall, walls are affixed to the posts resulting in loss of interior space. (Id.). As a result, the inside of a stall does not measure exactly twelve feet by twelve feet. (Id.).

Mr. Cooper expounded on the concept that the dimensions of the entire structure and materials used dictate the resulting and actual size of the stalls. (R. p. 144, line 14 - p. 145, line 1).

Both he and Mr. Key testified that the cost of constructing a barn of the size involved here with actual twelve-foot by twelve-foot stalls would be substantially more than the price paid by Dr. Tummillo, and mainly because non-standard lumber lengths would have to be used. (Id.).

It is reasonable to believe that the interpretation of construction plans, dimensions and choice of materials may not be readily understandable to lay persons. Mr. Cooper testified that in the equestrian industry reference to the size of barn stalls is commonly made using nominal and not exact dimensions. (R. p. 140, line 8 - p. 145, line 10). For example, a barn with "12 x12 stalls" does not mean that the actual dimensions of the interior of the stalls are twelve-feet by twelve-feet, and all of the stalls in the barn may vary in interior size. (Id.). Similar concepts are found in other areas of construction and other businesses and industries, such as electronics and automobiles. (R. p. 116, line 10 - p. 118, line 25).

Since the contract between Dr. Tummillo and Elite Construction did not specifically set forth the size of the stalls to be built it is reasonable to believe that she and Mr. Key would have discussed this issue. Evidence of such conversations would then be beneficial to the Court in interpreting the parties' contract. Columbia East Associations v. Bi-Lo, 299 S.C. 515, 386 S.E. 2d 259 (Ct. App. 1989); Maddox v. Cassady, 289 S.C. 57, 344 S.E.2d 620 (Ct. App. 1986).

Mr. Key testified that the during the time the contract involved here was negotiated he and Dr. Tummillo discussed "12 by 12" stalls. (R. p. 133, lines 14 - 16). He testified that he never promised Dr. Tummillo that the interior of the stalls would measure exactly twelve feet by twelve feet.(R. p. 121, lines 2 - 9).

Dr. Tummillo is a practicing physician and is also skilled in the area of boarding thoroughbred horses. (R. p. 161, line 10 - p. 171, line 20). The facility where the barn in this case

is located is operated as a business by her known as the Palmetto Thoroughbred Training Center. (Id.; R. p. 155, line 14 - p. 156, line 5).

Upon cross examination Dr. Tummillo admitted that when she and Mr. Key negotiated the contract between them, she asked him “Does this mean the stalls are going to be 12 by 12?”. (R. p. 169, line 10 - p. 171, line 23). She did not ask him if each of the stalls would measure exactly twelve-feet by twelve-feet. It is clear from this testimony that Dr. Tummillo either understood, or certainly should have understood, the concept that dimensions of this type do not refer to actual measurements, but are nominal terms for stalls of approximate sizes.

Mr. Key further testified that he trusted that Dr. Tummillo understood that the term “12 by 12” described the nominal and not the exact measurements of a stall. (R. p. 114, line 20 - p. 115, line 1). He based this belief given what he understood to be her experience in the horse industry. (Id.).

Also an expert in the boarding of horses, Mr. Cooper further testified that the stalls constructed by Mr. Key are certainly adequate to meet the requirements of boarding thoroughbred horses. (R. p. 141, line 14 - p. 144, line 13). Thus, there is no basis in this case to suggest that the construction of the barn did not meet the terms of the parties’ contract or the needs and expectation of Dr. Tummillo.

Furthermore, after Elite Contruction ended its involvement in the project in early 2009 two lists were prepared by Michael Tummillo, Dr. Tummillo’s brother, and which set forth particular problems to be corrected by Elite Construction. (R. p. 179, line 12 - p. 181, line 1; p. 206 and p. 268). Dr. Tummillo reviewed both of these lists. (R. p. 182, lines 2 - 8). Nowhere on these lists did Dr. Tummillo or her brother set forth that they had any concerns with the size of the stalls.

Of note, the evidence in this case shows that Mr. Tummillo added wood siding to some of the stalls after Elite Construction ended its involvement. (R. p. 134, lines 2 -19). Such additions have further decreased the size of the stalls.

As noted, Dr. Tummillo operates Palmetto Thoroughbred Training Center as an ongoing business. (R. p. 161, line 10 - p. 163, line 19). Upon questioning she admitted that she has marketed and advertised her business, and includes photographs of the entire barn constructed by Elite Construction. (Id.). She further testified that she has never included in such advertising any information to the effect that any of the stalls at the barn are unacceptable. (Id.).

For these reasons the decision of the Special Referee is supported by the evidence and should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN REFUSING TO REDUCE THE RECOVERY OF RESPONDENT FOR ITS FAILURE TO DELIVER HORSE STALLS OF THE SIZE REQUIRED IN THE CONTRACT WITH APPELLANT IN THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE POLE BARN AT ISSUE.

There is further no basis to reduce or modify the judgment awarded to Elite Construction by the Special Referee. As set forth above Elite Construction complied not only with the terms of the written contract, but also met the expectations of Dr. Tummillo by delivering what is commonly known as "12 by 12" stalls.

Further, and in the event that the Court were to determine that some of the stalls in the barn are unsuitable, there is no evidence in the record for this matter by which the Court may reliably calculate or determine the value of Dr. Tummillo's alleged loss.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN FINDING THAT TIME WAS NOT OF THE ESSENCE IN THE CONTRACT AND THAT APPELLANT'S PROOF OF DAMAGES WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT.

The Special Referee correctly concluded that Dr. Tummillo should not recover damages based upon an alleged delay by Elite Construction in beginning or completing the construction project involved in this case.

The contract in this case is dated July 16, 2008. (R. pp. 183 - 187). It does not contain a provision establishing a date by which Elite Construction should have begun work or a date by which the project should have been completed. (Id.). The agreement provides, however, that Dr. Tummillo is responsible for “grading” and “fill”. (Id.). The parties agree that these responsibilities include preparation of a concrete pad for the barn. (R. p. 106, line 13 - p. 107, line 11). The agreement does not set forth a date by which the pad should have been completed. (R. pp. 183 -187).

The concrete pad was completed approximately the first part of September 2008. (R. p. 174, line 11 - p. 176, line 13). Mr. Key was involved in another project that month and only became aware that the pad was completed later that month. (R. p. 128, line 16 - p. 129, line 15). Contrary to Dr. Tummillo’s contention, there was never any agreement to complete the project by November 2008 and certainly no agreement that “time was of the essence.”

The Special Referee correctly concluded that absent an agreement the law implies that a contract should be concluded in a reasonable period of time. Faulkner v. Millar, 319 S.C. 216, 460 S.E. 2d 378 (1995). There is nothing in the record for this matter to suggest that given the size of the project involved here Elite Construction is responsible for any delay in performing its responsibilities under the contract. This is certainly true in light of the fact that a period of at least a month and one-half expired between the time the contract is dated, and the point when the concrete pad was completed and Elite Construction could even have begun its work. At a bare minimum, and as the Special Referee concluded, any delay involved here is not unreasonable. (R. pp. 17 - 27).

More importantly, if Elite Construction unreasonably delayed its performance under the contract, any damages sustained by Dr. Tummillo as a result of that delay must be proven within a reasonable degree of certainty. Drews Co., Inc. v. Ledwith-Wolfe Associates, Inc., 296 S.C. 207, 371 S.E. 2d 532 (1988); S.C. Finance Corp. v. West Side Finance Co., 236 S.C. 109, 113 S.E.2d 329 (1960). When asked upon direct examination regarding the amount of damages she sustained as a result of the alleged delay by Elite Construction, Dr. Tummillo testified as follows:

Q: And have you made any estimate of how much revenue you would have generated from the January through April period if the stalls had been completed in a timely fashion?

A: It would have been - I forgot - it's like, I think, \$33,000.00.

(R. p. 159, line 23 - p. 160, line 3).

Upon cross-examination Dr. Tummillo admitted that she has no documents or records establishing the existence of such damages. (R. p. 172, line 6 - p. 173, line 19). She further agrees that any numbers or figures proffered to the Court to support any damages are "estimates". (Id.). Under the circumstances presented here such evidence does not reach a reasonable degree of certainty.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS AMENDED ORDER OF JUDGMENT IN AWARDING ATTORNEY'S FEES TO THE RESPONDENT IN LIGHT OF ITS CORRECT RULING ON THE ISSUES RAISED IN QUESTIONS I, II AND III.

The Special Referee correctly ruled that Elite Construction is the "prevailing party" in this case, and is entitled to recovery of its attorney's fees, costs and expenses pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10 (1976).

In its Complaint Elite Construction prayed for judgment in the amount of \$126,160.37. (R. pp. 37 - 50). Dr. Tummillo did not set forth a prayer for a specific amount in her

Counterclaim, nor did she present a written offer of settlement before the trial of this case. (R. pp. 51 - 56). Despite the uncertainty of the value of her counterclaim at trial she asserts in her Brief to this Court that it is \$36,000.00. As noted, the Special Referee awarded judgment to Elite Construction in the amount of \$80,204.10.

Pursuant to § 29-5-10, and because she did not present an offer to settle this matter before trial, the value of Dr. Tummillo's Counterclaim is considered to be a negative sum. See S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10(b) (2003); *see also* JRS Builders, Inc. v. Neunsinger, 364 S.C. 596, 364 S.E. 2d 629 (2005). As a result, Elite Construction is clearly the prevailing party and is entitled to an award of attorney's fees, costs and expenses.